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DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 

4800 MARK CENTER DRIVE 


ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA 22350-15-00 


JUL 3 1 2015 
MEMORANDUM FOR INSPECTOR GENERAL 

SUBJECT: 	 Report ofInve5'tigation- Mr. David R. Shedd, Acting Director and Deputy 
Director, Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA); 1\1r. James Manzelmann, 
Director, Mission Services, DIA; and Mr. Douglas H. Wise, Deputy Director, 
DIA (Case 20141020-028223) 

We recently completed an investigation to address allegations that Mr. Shedd misused a 
Government-owned vehicle and his subordinates' time, and improperly used non-contract air 
caniers for official travel. We also addressed an allegation that Mr. Manzelmann misused his 
position and Govemment prope11y on one occasion. Additionally, we addressed an allegation 
that Mr. Wise improperly used non-contract air cmTiers and failed to use his Government Travel 
Charge Card (GTCC) dming official travel. 

We substantiated both allegations against Mr. Shedd. We did not substantiate the 
allegation against 'Mr. Manzelmann. We substantiated a single allegation against Mr. Wise 
regarding h~s failure to use a GTCC. 

We offered Mr. Shedd and Mr. Wise the oppmtunity to corriment on our initial 
conclusions. Mr. Shedd contested our preliminary findings and conclusions. After considering 
Mr. Shedd's response, we stood by our substantiated conclusions. Mr. Wise stated he had no 
reason to comment on the report. We incorporated their responses into our final report. 

We recommend the Under Secretary ofDefense for Intelligence consider appropriate 
corrective action with regard to Mr. Shedd and Mr. Wise. 

Margueli e 	 . Garrison 
Deputy Inspector General for 

Administrative Investigations 
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REPORT OF INVESTIGATrION: 
MR. DAVID R. SHEDD, MR. JAMES MANZELMANN, AND MU. DOUGLAS H. WTSE, 

SENIOR EXECUTIVE SERVICE 

JUL 3 1 2015 
C. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY' 

We initiated·this investigation to address allegations that Mr. Dav-id R. Shedd, while 
serving as the Acting Director and Deputy Director, Defense Intelligence-Agency (DIA), 
misused a government-owned vehicle (GOV) and his subordinates' time. and improperly used 
non-contract air carriers for official travel. If substantiate4, his conduct would violate Title 31, 
United States Code, Section 1344 (31 U.S.C. 1344 ), "'Passenger carrier use''; Department of 
Defense (DoD) 5500.07-R, "Jofot Ethics Regulation (JERf; DoD 4500.36-R, ''Ivfanagement, 
Acquisition, and Use of Motor Vehicles"; Title 41, Code ofFederal Regulations (CFR) 
Subpart B> "Common Can1.er Transportation/' Sections 301-10.106 and 301.-1O.l07 
(41CFR301-10.106and107); DoD 7000.14-R, "DoD Financial Management Regulation 
(FMR)/' Volume 9; and "The Joint Tr~vel Regulations (JTR) Uniformed Servjce Members and 
DoD Civilian Personnel."1 

We also addressed an aUegation 1hat Mr. James Mat1Zelmaun, Dil'ector for Mission 
Services, DIA, misused his position and Government property on a single occasion by directing a 
subordinate tcJ schedt1Ie Mt·. Shedd on. a non-contrnct. air carrier. Ifsubstantiated, his condllct 
would violate 41 U.S.C. Subpart B, DoD 7000.14-R, the JTR, and the JER, Subpart G, "Misuse 
ofPosition," and Section 2635.704, "Use of Govemment Property.:' 

Additionally, we·addressed attallegation that Mr. Douglas H. Wise, Deputy Director, 
DIA, improperly used non-contract air carriers. lfsubstantiated, his conduct would violate 
41 U.S.C. Subprui B, DoD 7000.14-R, and the JTR. During the course ofom investigation, we 

· received an additional allegation that Mr. Wise failed to use a Government Travel Charge Card 
(GTCC) during official travel. Ifsubstantiated~ his conduct would violate DoD 7000.14-R and 
theJTR.2 

We substantiated both allegations against Mr. Shedd. We did not substantiate l:he 

allegation against Mr. Manzelmam1. We substatrtiated a single. allegation agains~Mr. Wise 

regarding his failure to use a GTCC. 


We conclude l\1r, Shedd misused a GOV and his subordinates' time nurrt.erous times for 
travel ou part of the route between his residence $d his J)riml';l.ry place ofduty at DIA 
headquarters (DIAC) at Joint Base Bolli11g-Anacostia, Washington, D.C. In a sampling of 

1 Effective October 1, 2014., "The foint FederaJ Travel Re_gµlations ," Volume 1 (JFTR), and "The Joint Travel 
Regulations," Volume 2 {JTR), were consolidated into one volume titled "The Joint Travel Regufations (JTR)." for 
the purpose ofthis investigation, we applied tlte current version ofthe JTR as its regulato1y policy regarding this 
allegation was coosisteut with pre_vious issuances. · 

2 11r. Shedd and Mr. Wise are employees on Joint Dttt)' Assignments to the Defense 
Intelligence Agency. A Memorandum ofUnderstanding between the lwo organizations established that DoD 
policies and procedures would be applicable for their official travel 

ff!.9Jil ~FFf~llrYs. lJ8ie ~itTtiV 

http:J)riml';l.ry


20141020-028223 2 

Mr. Shedd1s local travel, we found on an average of three times each week Mr. Shedd drove his 
privately-owned vehicle {POV) from his residence to one oftwo altemate offices. On.e alternate 
office was located IPP from his home at tl1e Office of the Director of National InteHigence 
(ODNI), Tysons Corner, Virginia, known as (LX). The other altemate office 
was"'" from his home at the Pentagon. We found a milHary member then drove 
l\tfr. Sheddin a GOV from either ofthe altemate offices to his primary office at Joint Base 
Bolling-Anacostia. Both altemate offices were located on a route between Mr. Shedd 's 
residence and Joint Base Bolling-Anacostia. 

We randomly sampled 43 days ofMr. Shedd's commute during a 3 and a halfyear period 
ofMr. Shedd's 4-yeat tenure at DIA. We interviewed witnesses and compared his official 
calendar and mode of travel with building access records for LX and the Pentagon. We found 
Mr. Shedd was the senior passenger in a GOV his suborclinates drove during 83 tl'ips in the 
sample period.3 We found 40 trips .bad an ofiicial purpose; however, we found no official 
purpose for the remaining 43 hips. 4 

The JER and 31 U.S.C. 1344 require that a GOV ol).ly be used for official purposes. 
Domicile-to-duty (DTD) transp011ation is OJlly authorized ifapproved by the head ofa Federa1 
agency . . DoD 4500.36-R prohibits the 1,,1se ofa GOV over all or any part of the route between 
domiciles a11d places ofemployment. The JER states an ernp1oyee shall not encourage, direct, 
coerce, or request a subordinate to use official time to perform activities other than those 
required in the performance of official duties. 

We determined that Mr. Shedd was not authorized DTD transportation and his use ofa 
GOV and ddver for 43 bips- 52 percent of the 83-trip total- between his two alternate offices 
and the DlAC constituted DTD transportation. Mr. S.hedd's use of a GOV for transportation 
between LX or tbe Pentagon to the DJ AC reduced Jais one-way commute from 9rutes to ii 
..or pf!p,respectively. 

We also determined that Mr. Shedd~s use ofa GOV and drhrer for transportation on 40 
trips to and from restaurants and similar venues was not ::\Utho1i.zeq under the circumstances we 
reviewed. Mr. Shedd did not sufficiently explain why he was required, on these occasions, to 
meet individuals over meals at restaurants to conduct business beyond his stated personal 
opinion the DIA cafeteria food is poor. Under the circumstances~ the restaurant locations he 
chose did not meet the criteria to be considered his places ofemployment justifying transport via 
GOV and drivenmder DoD 4500.36-R, Appendix P4. l.49. Additionally, Mr. Shedd provided 
insufficient explanation for why, in these it1Stances, meeting individuals at restaurants and 
similar venues was essential rather than meeting the individuals in the LX, Pentagon, or DIAC 
offices provided to him for conducting official business. Paragraphs C2.5.1 and C2.5.1. l state 
the detenuination as to whether a pa1ticular use is for official pm1,oses is a matter of 
adminislrntive discr~tion to be exercised within applicable law and regulations. In making such a 
determination, consideration shall be given to all pertinent factors, including whether the 

3 'fhe tenn ''trip" is used ill this report to identify each instance Mr. Shedd used a GOV to travel from a starting poln.l 
direcUy to a stoppi.J1g point. 

4 Our sampling methodology is explained fu1ther in Section JV oftbis repott. 
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transportation is "essential to the successful completion ofa DoD function, activity, or 
operation." Mr. Shedd violated the applicable standards for GOV and driver use because, on the 
4 occasions for which he provided official purpose explanation, his stated justifications did not 
sufficiently establish that the use ofthese locations under the circumstances was "essential to the 
successful completion of a DoD ftmction, activity, or operation.'' Similarly, we dete1mined he 
violated the applicable standards on the 13 dates for which he offered no explanation or 
justification for using a GOV and driver. 

We determined Mr. Shedd used a GOV and military member driver on 43 trips for 
essentially DTD transportation between LX or the Pentagon and the DIAC, and on 40 trips to 
and from restaurants and similar venues without sufficient explanation for why those locations 
on those occasions were essential to accomplishing the DIA mission. Under the circumstances, 
this resulted in unnecessary GOV and driver use that could be characterized as a personal 
limousine service based solely on reasons of rank, position, prestige, or personal convenience, 
which the JER specifically prohibits. 

We conclude 11.r. Shedd improperly used non-contract air carriers on five flights. We 
found that on the first flight, Mr. Shedd selected a non-contract canier for the departing flight but 
provided no justification on the travel authotization. On the second flight, Mr. Shedd selected a 
non-contract canier for the returning flight because he wanted a direct flight not offered by the 
contract carrier due to Mr. Shedd's concern for potential missed connections or delays. We 
found that on the third and fourth flights, Mr. Shedd flew round trip on non-contract carriers with 
the justification that meetipgs both prior to departure and immediately upon return necessitated 
the use ofnon-contract caniers~ However, we found no evidence ofsuch meetings. We found 
that on the fifth flight, Mr. Shedd used a non-contract carrier annotating a justification that a non­
contract carrier was more expensive. 

Title 41 CFR Section 301-10.106 requires DoD employees to use contract caniers; 
Section 301 -10.107 allows for exceptions, including if space on a scheduled contract flight is not 
available in time to accomplish the purpose ofthe travel. The JTR requires the justification for 
any exception to be on the travel docmnent before travel begins, and DoD 7000 .14-R states when 
the traveler signs the travel voucher, the traveler attests that the statements are true and complete. 

We detel'mined Mr. Shedd improperly used non-contract carriers on five :flights without 
appropriate justification. 

We conclude Mr. Manzelmann did not misuse his position or Government property by 
directing a subordinate to improperly schedule Mr. Shedd on a non-contract air canfor: We 
found that Mr. Shedd was scheduled to return from temporary duty (TDY) using a non-contract 
carrier because no seats were available on a contract crurier when the flight was originally 
scheduled- an appropriate exception to the JTR. We found that Mr. Shedd was scheduled to 
attend an official ftmction immediately upon retmn from TDY. We foimd that on the day prior 
to his departure, seating became available on a contract carrier that retumed later and conflicted 
with Mr. Shedd's attendance at the official function.· We found that Mr. Manzelmann approved 
Mr. Shedd for travel on a non-contract carrier so that his attendance at the official function 
would not be jeopardized. 
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The JER states that an employee has a duty to protect and conserve Government 
property. We determined Mr. ManzelmalUl acted reasonably in directing the restoration of the 
flight on the non-contract carrier and did not waste Government resources. 

We conclude Mr. Wise properly used a non-contract air carrier for round-trip travel from 
Dulles International Airport, Virginia, to Omaha, Nebraska, to attend a conference. We found 
the travel authorization stated that a non-contract canier was required for both flights because 
that was the only carrier that met the requirements of the conference agenda. 

Title 41Section301-10.106 requires DoD employees to use contract caniers; Section 
301-10.107 allows for exceptions, including if space on a scheduled contract ±light is not 
available in time to accomplish the pmpose of the travel. The JTR requires the justification for 
any exception to be on the travel document before travel begins, and DoD 7000.14-R states when 
the traveler signs the travel voucher, the traveler attests that the statements are true and complete. 

We determined the justifications used for the selection ofa non-contract ca11'.ier for both 
flights met the exceptions allowed by 41CFR3.01-10.107. 

Finally, we conclude Mr. Wise failed to use his GTCC while conducting official travel. 
We found Mr. Wise was issued a GTCC on July 14, 2014. We found that on at least three 
official travel trips from August through October 2014, Mr. Wise used his personal credit card 
for $3, 106 ofexpenses for hotels, airport parking, and a rental car. Mr. Wise acknowledged this 
errnr and accepted full responsibility for the matter. 

DoD 7000.14-R and the JTRrequire that DoD employees use the GTCC for all expenses 
while performing official travel. 

We dete11nined that Mr. Wise failed to use his GTCC for expenses such as hotels, airport 
parking, and a rental car, while on official travel. 

Following our established practice, by letters dated June 1, 2015, we provided Mr. Shedd 
and Mr. Wise the oppo1tunity to conunent on the results of our investigation. In his response, 
dated June 15, 2015, Mr. Shedd disagreed with our conclusions. After reviewing the matters 
Mr. Shedd presente4 we stand by our conclusions.5 

Mr. \Yise stated he had no reason to comment on the I'epo1t. We stand by our conclusion 
regarding Mr. Wise. 

We recommend the Under Secretary ofDefense for Intelligence consider appropriate 
action regarding Mr. Shedd and Mr. Wise. · 

5 While we have included what we believe is a reasonable synopsis of Mr. Shedd's response, we recognize that any 
attempt to sununarize risks oversimplification and omission. Accordingly, we incorporated Mr. Shedd's comments 
where appropri<lte throughout this report and provided a copy of his response to the Under Secretary ofDefense for 
Intelligence together with this report. 
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We make no recommendation .regal'di:ng Mr. MftllZelm.ann. 

This report sets fo11h our findings and co!}cl:usions based upon a preponderance ofthe 
evidence, 

ll. BACKGROUND 

Mr. Shedd became the DIA Acting Director on Augqst 7, 2014, following his tenure as 
the DIA Deputy Director, which began on September 20, 20 l 0. Ivlr. Wise became the DIA 
Deputy Director on Allgust 7) 2014. Mr. M.anzelmrum assumed duties as the DIA Director for 
Mission Services on January 5, 2013. The DIA conducts global iiuelligence operations to defend 
U.S. national security interests. 

On October 20, 2014, the DIA JG refened the complaint regarding Mr. Sbedd, 
Mr. Manzelmmm, and Mr. Wise to tills Office foneview.6 On October 28, 2014, we initiated 
this investigation. 

JU. SCOPE 

We interviewed Mr. Shedd, Mr. Manzelmann, Mr. Wise, and J2 witnesses, includi11g 
Mr. Shedd's Executive Officer ; ·Executive Assistants (EA) for both 
Mr. Shedd and Mr. Wise; the Special Ass1stai1t to 'Mr. Shedd;~' DIA 'I'rave.l Office;· 
and four military enlisted personnel who served as drivers for Mr. Shedd. We reviewed witness 
statements submitted to the DIA IG. We also reviewed emails, travel records, official calendars 
for Mr. Shedd durh1g the period 2010-2014, GOV usage logs, LX and Pentagon access records, 
.and other documents and standal'ds. 

IV+ FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS 

A. Did Mr. Shedd inis!lse a GOV and. Government personnel for other than official 
purposes? 

Title 31 U.S.C. 1344, "Passenge•· c~1·ricr -use'' 

Subsection 1344(a)(1) requires that GOVs be used for official purposes only. 

Subsection l 344(b )(9) authorizes GOY use for transpoJiation between resi deuce and 
place of employment for an officer or employee for whom the lread ofa Federal agency makes a 

" The Office of lne DlA IG interviewed several witnesses upon recei1Yt ofthe initial complaint to determine if the 
allegations bad merit and provided these statements to this Office. 
7 Mr. Shedd was served by twa separate Executive Assistants with the same duty title. For the putvose ofthis 
rep011, we reforred to one as an "Execotive Assistant" and the second as "SpeciaJ Assistant" for clarity. 
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determination that highly unusual circmnstance8 present a clear and present danger, that an 
emergency exists, or that other compelling operational considerations made such transportation 
essential to the conduct of official business. 

DoD 5500.07-R, "Joint Ethics Regulation (JER)," August 30, 1993, including 
changes 1-7 (November 17, 2011) 

The JER provides a shigle source ofstandards ofethical conduct and ·ethics guidance for 
DoD employees. Chapter 2 of the JER, "Standards ofEthical Conduct,'' inco1porates Title 5, 
CPR, Part 2635, "Standards ofEthical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch," in its 
entirety. 

S1ibpatt G, "Misuse of Position" 

Section 2635.704, "Use of Government Property," states that an employee has a duty to 
protect and conserve Govenunent property and shall not use such property, or allow its use, for 
other than authorized purposes. 

Section 2635.705 (b), "Use ofa subordinate's time," states that an employee shall not 
encourage, direct, coerce, or request a subordinate to use official time to perfo1m activities 
other than those required in the performance of official duties or authorized in accordance 
with law and regulation. 

DoD 4500.36-R, "Management, Acquisition, and Use ofMotor Vehicles," 
March 16, 2007 

Section C.2.5, "Official Use of Vehicles," states that the use of all DoD motor vehicles, 
including leased vehicles, shall be restricted to official purposes only and that "when questions 
ruise about the ofl:icial use ofa motor vehicle, they sha1l be resolved in favor ofstrict compliance 
with statutory provisions and this Regulation." 

C2.5. l. The determination as to whether a particular use is for official purposes is a 
matter ofadministrative discretion to be exercised within applicable law and regulations. In 
making such a dete1mination, consideration shall be given to all pertinent factors, including 
whether the transportation is the following: 

C2.5. l.1. Essential to the successful completion of a DoD :function, activity, or operation, · 
and 

C2.5. l .2. Consistent with the purpose for which the motor vehicle was acquired. 

Section C2.5.2. DoD motor vehicles shall not be a\.l.thorized for transpo1ting DoD or 
other persoMel over all or any patt of the route between their domiciles and places of 
employment except as authorized in paragraph C2.5.4 and in Chapters 4 and 5.8 

8 Mr. Shedd did not meet the requirements for an exception. 
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Section C2.5.10. Prohibits transportation by a GOV when the justification is based solely 
ou reasons of l'ank, posj,tion, prestige, or personal convenience. 

Ai)pe.ndix P4.1.49, "Place ofEmployment." Any place within the accepted commuting 
area where the person performs lUs/her business, trade, or occupation, even ifthe person is there 
for a short))etiod. The tel'm includes, but is not limited.to, an official duty station, home base, 
11eadquarters, or any place where the person is assigned to work, including locations whese 
meetings, conforences, and other official functions lake place. 

The complainant stated Mr. Shedd vio]ated DoD "domicile to duty" policy for J years 
·while serving as the DIA Deputy Director but terminated this practice vvhen he became the 
Acting Director in August 2014. The complainant stated Mr. Sheddroutinely parked his POV 
30 miles from DIAC and was picked up in the mornings and dropped offafter duty hours by his 
Government driver i11 a GOV. 

(b) •61 ibi '7)(ClMr, Shedd resides .in . While his primary duty office is DIAC, Joint 
Base Bolling-Anacostia, District of Columbia. miles il:om his residence), he had access to 
alternate offic.es at LX anct the Pentagon.9 LX 1.s lmiles from his residence; and the Pentagon is 
IImiles from his 1'esidence. 

The GOVs used by the DIAC are leased by lhe Govemment and maintained at Joint Base 
Bolling-Anacostia. 

Testimony from lvlr. Shedd's Drivers 

We interviewed four military personnel who drove a GOV for Mr. Shedd. Each of the 
fom· drivers testified they never drove Mr. Shedd directly to or from his residence or .knew of 
anyone who did. They each testified they picked up Mr. Shedd in a GOV an average of three 
times weekly, primarily from LX and occasionally from the Pentagon, and transported him to the 
DIAC. The drivers explained Mr. Shedd parked his POV at LX and worked at his alternate 
office there. One driver testified Mr. Shedd typically anived at LX around 6:30 a.m., entered his 
offic.e, and subsequently exited tbe buikling at 7:00 a.m. for transport to DIAC. The other three 
drivers stated they did not know when MT. Shedd arrived at LX. 

The four drivers offered three different pick-up times at LX: 6:30 a.m., 7 :00 a.m.~ and 
7:30-8;00 a.m., primarily as Mr. Shedd exited the building, llot his POV, and they would 
transport him in a GOV to DIAC. Two drivers stated that on two or three occasions they picked 
hi.m up directly as he exited his POV. All four drivers stated they wou1d also transport 
Mr. Shedd back to LX or the Pentagon at the end ofthe duty day. Three of the drivers stated 
Mr. Shedd would typically return to work at LX or the Pentagon. One driver stated Mr. Shedd 
would proceed directly to his POV. 

9 We confumed Mr. Shedd bad iiccess to offices al bot (LX) ~nd the Pen~agon. 

http:offic.es
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One dtiver testified that on three or four occasions he, along with Mr. Shedd, picked up 
fllJ{6) llJ)(l)(C) prior to transporting them to social functions; upon the events' .conclusion, he 
tra.nspo1ted them back to their POV at LX or the Pentagon. 

Testimony -from Mr. Shedd's Personal Staff 

Mr. Shedd's Special Assistant (SA), fbl 161 1b1 [7JfCI 

employee, stated that Mr. Shedd's practice of the occasional pick up at LX originated whe11 
Mr. Shedd assumed his diities in 2010. The SA stated that Mr. Shedd's·predecessoss did ritot11se 
office space at LX but were sometimes picked up at the Pentagon. The SA testified, "they 
[predecessors] lived in different locations." The SA explained that on occasions when 
Mr. Shedd had meetings at LX or the Pentagon, she would indicate on the calendar, with 
Mr. Shedcl's approval, for him to be picked up from those locatio:t1S. The SA stated Mr. Shedd 
typically arrived at LX at 6:30 a.m.~ worked for 30-45 1Ui11utes checking his !memaiJ account, 
which could only be accessed from LX, and retrieved any classified documents he may have 
stared there before departing via GOV. 

Mr. Shedd's executive officer; offered similar testimony as the SA. He 
stated there was no regular pattern to the days Mr. Shedd would be picked up from any· particular 
location. He explained J'vfr. Sbedd's daily appointments at various locations determined the use 
ofthe GOV for transporting Mr. Shedd. He stated that on days Mr. Shedd had no rnoming 
meeting at LX, Mt. Shedd would Lypfoally work at LX for an hour cliecking his vadous email 
accounts and retrieving any classified documents he may have sto.red there. The executive 
officer continued that th.e command group drivers :informed him several months earlier they had 
concerns regarding the regulatory requirements that governed the use of GOVs. He stated a staff 
officer from: the DIA Office of General Counsel briefed the drivers on the regulations concerning 
the use.ofGOVs and provided an information paper on that topjc as well. 

Infonnat.fon Paper 

The DlA Geneml Counsel prnvided an information paper to Mr. Shedd, dated October 7, 
2014, subject: «Official Use ofGovernment Owned or Leased Vehicles." The paper explained 
the laws at1d DoD regulations applicable to the use of GOVs within DfA. The paper stated, in 
part, a1l DIA personnel, including senior leaders, are personally responsible for all portions of 
their daily commutes to their official d.uty locations, whether those locations are their permanent 
duty stations or some off-site locations at which bona fide and necessary ofJ:foial duties are 
actually performed on a particular day. The paper stated that under Federal stah1te, GOVs could 
only be ·used for ofiicial purposes and civilians who misuse GOVs are subject to sqspension 
without pay for a minimum of 30 days. The paper also stated the use ofan enlisted Service 
menilier for unauthorized pwposes Was prohibited. 

The infot'mation paper presented several scenarios regarding the use of a GOV and 
drive1'.. AU of the scenarios established that the employee must perform bona fide and necessary 
duty at t1'1e off-site location on each trip to meet tbe regulatory requirements for the use ofa GOV 
and d:iiver. The paper also disclosed that for an employee and his spouse to depart via GOV and 
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driver from any off-site location to attend an officjal function, the employee must petfonn duties 
at the off-site location that day. 

A,tfr. Shedd's GOVand Driver Usage 

We developed a table comparing Mr. Shedd's official calendars from January 4, 20 I l , 
tln·ough July 2J, 2014, with corresponding LX or l)entagon access reco1'ds. 10 'we randomly 
sampled 4 3 days during this 1,295-day, or 3 and a halfyear period,. in which the daily calendar 
entries reflected Mr. Sherld departed LX or the Pentagon ~via GOV and driver, typically al 7:00 
a.m.~ but identified no initial moming duties to be performed by Mt. Shedd at either of the two 
locations. Our analysis found that Mr. Shedd made 83 trips in a GOV driven by a military 
member, which originated at LX or the Pentagon and terminated at the DIAC-orthe reverse, 
originating at the DIAC and terminating at LX or the Pentagon (Appendices A and B). 

The review comparing Mr. Shedd's weekly calendars with corresponding building access 
records reflected Mr. Shedd conducted official business at LX or the Pentagon eu route to, o~· 
retmning from, the DIAC on 40 of tl1e 83 trips (Appendix A). The review also retlected 
Mr. Shedd did noi conduct any official business en route to, or ret.mning from, the DIAC on 43 
ofthe 83 trips (Appendix B}. 

Our review of the 43-day sampling period also identified 17 elates, illvoJving 40 trips, in 
which MJ', Shedd was transported in a GOV driven by a military member to and from restaurants 
or other similar venues that had no apparent official purpose {Appendix.C). These trips are 
discussed subsequently jn this report. 

1 

Atfr. Shedd's Testimon11 

Mr. Shedd stated that upon assuming his duties with DIA in 2010, be received access to 
an office at LX, which allowed him to acce?S. unique websites unavailable at DIAC, to 
attend meetings, to store classified documents, and to work on weekends or during inc.lement 
weather. Mr. Shedd also stated he had an office at the Pentagon staffed with DIA employees. 
Mr. Shedd explained the DIA General Counsel had. advised him that LX and the Pentagon were 
places ofwork. Mr. Shedd added the DIA General Counsel provided him the October 7, 2014, 
infonnationpaper concerning the use ofGOVs. Mr. Shedd added the General Counsel also 
provided him a similru· document when he first arrived at DIA in 2010. Mr. Shedd stated he was 
picked up by GOV at LX or the Pentagon on average two or three times per week and 
transported to DIAC. He added the other days he drove his POV to the DIAC. Mr. Shedd 
explained his daily schedule requireinenls determined his mode of traosport. Mr. Shedd also 
testified he wasrequired to swipe in at both LX and the Pentagon to access these respective 
offices. 

We informed Mr. Shedd that our comparison ofhis daily calendar and corresponding LX 
access recmds disclosed he would typically enter around 6:30 a.m. and depatt around 7:00-0.m. 
We asked Mr. Shedd what duties he performed <lul'ing that time. Mr. Shedd exp1ained he 

10 January 4, 2011, through July 21, 2014 is 1,295 days or 3 years and 6 months. 
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accessed the. website, retrieved classified documents, and reviewed read-ahead slide 
presentations ofbriefings he would receive later that day. 

We also informed Mr. Shedd that our review ofhis calendar and access records indicated 
occasions when he did not swipe in at LX or the Pentagon but traveled via GOV to DIAC. 
Mr. Shedd recalled about six occasions when the driver would affjve early, or he simply changed 
his mind about retrieving classified documents and went directly to DIAC. rvfr. Shedd explained 
LX and the Pentagon were legitimate worksites, ahd it was "irrationaF' to believe that he had no 
discretion to bypass those locations on any given day and proceed directly to DIAC. 

·Mx. Shedd slated his use of a GOV and driver for social events snch as meetings at 
restaurants were all "work" related and never of a personal natme. Mr. Shedd explained the food 
at the DIA cafeteria was poor, and restaurants were more appl'opriate venues for such occasions. 

Mr. Shedd stated he was honored to have performed liis duties for the past 33 years but 
added his work had generally been an "inconvenience" due to the lengthy workdays. Mr. Shedd 
concluded by testifying 11e was willing to ddve his POV anywhere, and the detennination to use 
a GOV was based on the official nature of the requfrement Mr. Shedd stated he had a clean 
conscience as to bis use ofGOV s , ..mid by position and status that I had, by way of 
accomplishing the mission." 

We provided our referenced tabJe to Mr. Shedd and explained our sampling 
metb.odo1ogy. We requested Mr. Shedd review eacb entry and provide his written comments to 
us explaining what duties he performed on each particular day he used a GOV and driver, 
including the official nature oftransp01tation to restaurants and other similar venues. 

Nlr. Shedd's Response on Duties PerfiJrmed Justifying GOV Us~ 

Mi·. Shedd reiterated that he had fully functional offices at both LX and the Pentagon, and 
added the DIA General Counsel informed him these offices were official places of employment 
ill hjs repolting ca.pacity lo both the Undel· Secretary of Defense, Intelligence, and tbe Director of 
National Intelligence. Ivfr. Shedd stated he regularly attended meetings on_a variety of 
intelligence matters at both locations. He explained that his office at LX provided him access to 
thellfll unique information technology system and a classified storage facility. Mr. Shedd 
stated that access records for the Pentagon and LX were not necessarily accurate. He explained 
that the Pentagon security officers would occasionally recognize him and allow him through the 
turnstiles without swiping his access badge. Mr. Shedd recalled instances he entered LX from a 
diffoi:ent bt:cilding access point, which may not have been included in the access records we 
reviewed. 11 

J\1r. .Shedd stated he retained the flexibility to alter the time and location ofhis meetings 
fuI"OLlghout lhe day based on how best to meet the DIA's mission, 

2. '' Each has separate entrance points. Our review .
2. 

office complex was divided into two sections known as 
ofaccess reCQrds· 

· 
included both 
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We also asked Mr. Shedd to explain the official nature ofthe 40 trips he made to and 
from restaurants or similar venues using a GOV and driver on l7 of the dates we sampled. A 
complete list of the 40 trips is at Appendix C. Mr. Shedd proyjded an explanation for the trips 
made on 4 of the dates but did not provide an explanation for the ttips made on the remaining 13 
dates. 

Mr. Shedd's response to the four dates: 

• 	 February 28, 2011: Lunch at National Harbor with an unide.tUified persou. 
Mr. Shedd stated this lunch concerned private sector cyber challenges related to his 
official L'esponsibilities. However~ in earlier sworn testimony, Mr. Shedd stated this 
lunch was a mentoring session for a DIA employee. 

• 	 April 10; 2013.: Lunch with an unidentified person. Mr. Shedd stated he met wmt an 
individual to discuss science and technology developments. 

• 	 April 23, 2013: Driven from the DIAC to a restaurant at 11 :30 a.m. and returned to 
the DIAC. Mt. Shedd stated he met with m1 individuai for a mentoring discussion. 

• 	 February 26, 2014: Driven from LX at 6:45 a.m. for breakfast at a restaurant with an 
unidentified person. Mr. Shedd stated the person he met was the frnmer head ofa 
foreign national intelligence service. 

Mr. Shedd did not provide an explanation fo1' the trips made oli the remaining 13 dates. 
The following description provides i-epresentati.onal samples of the trips made on the l 3 
remaining dates: 

• 	 November 6, 2012: Driven fro,m DfAC to an evening Deputy Dh-ector hosted sociaJ 
event and latet driven back to LX. There was no record that he accessed LX that day. 

• 	 December 17, 2012: Driven from the DIAC at 12:00 p.m. to a restaurant for lunch 
with cm individual. Driven to LX at 5 :.00 }).m. to pick up"*lf!f", ddveJl to a 
restaurant at 5:45 p.m.• and back fo LX at 8:30 p.m. 

• 	 Novembe1· 19, 2013; Dt:iven from'DIAC at 6:00 p.m. to an unidentified location for 
dinne{, and driven to LX at 9:00 p.m. There was no record that he accessed LX that 
day. 

• 	 April 24, 2014: Driven from the DJAC at 6;00 p,m. for dinner at a restaurant and 
retur11ed to LX at 8:00 p.m. 

F8ft 8FFI81/te UB!il 8~ t@# 
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Discussion 

We conclude Mr. Shedd misused. a GOV and Govem.rnent personnel numerous times for 
other than official purposes. We foull.d in our sampling that an an average ofthree times each 
week, Mr. Shedd, who was i1otanthotized DTD transportation, drove his POV from hls 
residence ih -~ primarily to an alte111ate office l!@fl!I away at LX, or 
occasionally~corid alternate office at the Pentagon.. We found Mr. Shedd was 
then transported in a GOV driven by a military member for the remainder ofhis co111111ute to his 
primary oftice·atthe DTAC> Joint Base Bolling-Anacostia. We found both LX and the Pentagon 
were located on a commuting route bdween Mr. Shedd'.s residence and the DlAC. 

We f01md Mr. Shedd's weekly calendars and building access records identified an 
official purpose fur 40 tl'ips~8 percent ofthe 83 tl'ip total-in that his building access 1'ecords 
established he entered LX or the Pentagon (o perform duties while en route between his 
tesidence and the DIAC. 

Mr. Shedd's weekly calendars and building access records identified uo official purpose 
for stopping at LX orthe:Pentagon and transferring to a GOV with driver during 43 trips- 52 
percent of the 83 trip total in our sampling. For these 43 trips~ his building access records 
indicate he did not enter LX or the Pentagon while en route from his residence to, or 1·etuming to 
hfa residence from~ the DIAC. 

Mr. Shedd acknowledged receiving the October 7, 2014, DIA OGC memorandum 
rngardillgthe use ofGOVs and drivers. Mr. Shedd acknowledged receiving a similar document 
wlten he initially anived at DIA in2010. These documents established an empklyeemust 
perfonn duties at a place ofemployment in order to use a GOV and driver and allowed no 
discretion by any management official to forego this requi.rement for schedule changes, personal 
convenience, or any other reason. 

We alsofound Mr. Shedd was transported in a GOV driven by a military member on 40 
trips to and ~from restaurants or other yenues that were not authoJized DIA workplaces justifying 
an official purpose and u.se ofa GOV and driver. 

The JER and 31 U.S.C. 1344 require that a GOV only be used for of:ficiaJ purposes and 
require identification ofspecific persoru1eJ authorized DTD transportation. The JER prohibits 
the use ofa GOV baseq solely on reasons of rank, position, prestige> or personal convenienee. 
The JER and DoD 4500.36-R prohibit use ofa GOV for DTD transportation unless authorized. 

DoD 4500.36-R further prohibits the use ofa GOV over all or part of the mute between 
domiciles and places ofemployment. DoD 4500.36-R states that the use of all. DoD motor 
vehicles, includjng leased vehicles, shall be restricted lo official purposes only and that when 
questions arise concerning such use, iliey shall be resolved in favor of strict compHm1ce with 
statutory provisions. Appendix P4.1.49, "Place ofEmployment," defines locations betwee.n 
which an employee may be authorized GOV and driver as an official duty station, home base, 
headquarters, or any place wheJe the employee is assigned to work, incJuding locations where 
meetings, conferences, and other official ftmctions take place. The JER states an employee 
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shall not encourage. direct, coerce, or request a subordinate lo use official time to perform 
activities nther than those required in the performance ofofficial duties. 

Weidetermined Mr. Shedd was not auth01ized DTD transportation and his us.e ofa GOV 
and d1iver for 43 trips-52 percent of the 83 trip total-between LX or the Pentagonand DLAC 
was essentially DTD transpo1tatio11. For these 43 trips, his building access records indicate he 
did not enter LX or the Pentagon while en route frort1 'his wsidence to, or reuuning to his 
residence from, the DlAC. Thus, he could not have complied with applicable standards . 
requiring he perform official duties to justify GOV and driver to trausp01t hhn the remainder of 
his commute from those locations to or from the 01 AC. The effect of osing a GOV foT 
transportation between LX or the Pentagon to the DIAC reduced Mr. Shedd's one-way commute 
from •mfles to.I miles or IImiles, respectively. Mr. Shedd's unauthorized trips 011.gi11ating or 
ending at locations other than the DlAC resulted in additional GOV usage, as they required a 
military member to transport an empty GOV from or to the DIAC. 

We also detennined Mr. Shedd's use ofa GOV and driver for transportation on 40 trips 
to and from, restaura11ts and si111ilar venues was 11ot authorized because those locations did not 
meet the definition of"places ofemployment" between which he would otherwise be authorized 
GOV and driver use. Mr. Shedd was not assigned to meet individi.rnls at testau.rants or similar 
venues, and he was not attending conforences or representing DIA at social fonctions by official 
invitation at those locations. We provided Mr. Shedd a tabJe identifying the 17 dates comprising 
40 trips he made to and from restaurnnls and similar venues using a GOV and driver during the 
43-day period we sampled. We invited Mr. Shedd to explain the official purpose requiring use 
of a GOV and driver for each trip. Mr. Shedd commented on only 4 ofthe 17 dates. He 
explained tbat on those occasions he met individuals at restaurants to discuss intelligence-related 
cyber security challenges, science and technology developments, had breakfast with the former 
head ofa foreign intelligence agency, or engaged in a mentoring discussion. 

Mr. Shedd provided no evjdence that on these occasions he was assigned to meet 
individuals at restaurants over meals beyond bis stated persona} opinion the DIA caf-e.teria food is 
poor, nor did the locations meet the criteria to be considered his places ofemployment under 
DoD 4500.36-R, Appendix P4. l.49. Additionally, Mr. Shedd provided insu.Hi.cient expl.anatioll 
for why meeting individuals at restaurants and simHar venues in these instances was essential 
rather than meeting the individuals in the LX, Pent(!.gon, or DIAC offices provided to him for 
conducting official business. Paragraphs C2.5.1 and C2. 5. 1.1 state the determination as to 
whether a particulru: use is for officiaJ purposes is a matter ofadministrative discretion to be 
exercised within applicable law and regulations. In making such a detennination, consideration 
shall be given to all pertinent factors, including whether the transportation is ''essential to the 
successful completion ofa DoD function, activity, or operation." Mr. Shedd violated the 
applicable st.andards for GOV and. driver use because, on the 4 occasions for which he provided 
official purpose explanation, his stated justifications did notsufficiently establish that the use of 
these locations under the circumstances w.as "essential to the successfttl completion ofa OoD 
function, activity,, or operation." 

We reviewed the trips Mr. Shedd made on the 13 dates for which he provided .no 
com rnent on the oflicial j)Llfpose for using a GOV and driver. As he offered no justification for 



20141020-028223 14 

GOV and driver use on those·l3 dates, we applied DoD 4500.36-R, which states tliat "When 
. questions arise about the official use of a motor vehicle, they shall be resolved in favor ofstrict 
compliance with statutory provisio11s and this Regulation." Accordingly, we dete1mined his 
GOV and driver use on those dates was not authorized. 

We determined Mr. Shedd used a GOV and militmy member driver on 43 trips for 

essentially DTD transportation between LX or the Pentagon and the DIAC, and on 40 trips to 

and from restaurants and similar venues without sufficient explanation for why those locations 

on those occasions were essential to accomplishing the DIA mission. Under the circumstances, 

this resuJted in unnecessary GOV and driver use that could be characterized as a personal 

limousine service based solely on reasons of rank, position, prestige, or personal convenience, 

which the JER specifically prohibits. 


Response to Tentative Conclusions 

Following our established practice, by letter dated June 1; 2015, we provided Mr. Shedd 
the opportunity to comment on the preliminary results ofour investigation. In his response, 
dated June 15, 2015, Mr. Shedd asserted we used flawed logic and that the report of investigation 
contained erroneous judgements based upon faulty assumptions and insufficient knowledge of 
his duties. 

Response Regarding Domicile to Duty 

In his response, Mr. Shedd wrote that the.investigation fulled to take into account the 
dynamic and fluid situation a senior leader pfan Agency faces on a daily basis. Mr. Shedd 
explained he considered that it was within his purview to adjust his day-to-day schedule and 
"forego" the requirement to enter either alternate office at LX or the Pentagon while using a 
GOV and driver. 

We agree with Mr. Shedd that it was within his purview to adjust his daily schedule to 
meet emerging priorities. However, regulatory guidance--and his own DIA General Counsel 
Infonnation Paper- is clear-Mr. Shedd must "petform" duties at a place ofemployment to 
justify the use ofa GOV and driver rather than his POV to transpolt him the remainder ofhis 
commute between authorized places of employment. In our analysis of the facts, we provided 
'tl.1r. Shedd the broadest consideration of his compliance with this requirement, crediting him 
with having conducted some fonn ofofficial business at LX or the Pentagon no matter how 
briefly the access records indicated he physically entered those locations while co1111nuting 
between his residence and the DIAC. Accordingly, we determined 40 of the 83 trips more likely 
than not were official in nature and did not include those trips in our substantiated conclusion. 
However, regulatory guidance provides employees, regardless of their position or title, no 
discretion to waive this requirement. Mr. Shedd's frequent decisions to "forego" this 
requirement to perform duties at LX or the Pentagon before switching to a GOV and driver for 
tl1e remainder ofhis travel to tbe DIAC essentially provided him DID transportation over all or 
part ofhis daily commute for the remaining 43 trips on which we based our substantiated 
conclusion. We determined that on occasions that Mr. Shedd opted not to enter and perform 
duties at either alternate office, the applicable standards required him to use his POV over the 
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entire commuting distance between his residence and his primary place ofemployment at the 
DIAC. 

Response Regarding Trips to Restaurants and Other Similar Venues 

In his response, Mr. Shedd also asserted that all of the lunch or dinner meetings at 
restaurants and similar venues to which he was transported by GOV and military member driver 
were official business. Mr. Shedd wrote that he discussed a variety ofunclassified topics with 
cunent or fmmer intelligence officials, or "to gain insights from the private sector" inorder to 
enhance DIA operations. We twice provided Mr. Shedd a table identifying the 17 dates 
comprising 40 trips he made to and from restaurants or similar venues using a GOV and driver 
during the 43-day sampling period. Mr. Shedd commented on only 4 of the dates and explained 
he discussed intelligence-related cyber security challenges, science and technology 
developments, had breakfast with the.fom1er head of a foreign intelligence agency, or engaged in 
a mentoring discussion. 

Mr. Shedd did not sufficiently explain why he was required, on these occasions, to meet 
individuals at restaurants over meals beyond his stated personal opinion the DIA cafeteria food is 
poor. Under the circumstances, the restaurant locations he chose did not meet the criteria to be 
considered his places ofemploymentjustifying transport via GOV and driver under DoD 
4500.36-R, Appendix P4.l.49. Additionally, Mr. Shedd provided insufficient explanation for 
why, in these instances, meeting individuals at restaurants and similar venues was essential 
rather than meeting the individuals in the LX, Pentagon, or DIAC offices provided to him for 
conducting official business. Paragraphs C2.5. l and C2.5. l .l state ihe determination as to 
whether a particular use is for official pmposes is a matter ofadministrative discretion to be 
exercised within applicable law and regulations. In making such a determination, consideration 
shall be given to all pe1tinent factorsj including whether the transportation is "essential to the 
successful completion of a DoD function, activity, or operation." Mr. Shedd violated the 
applicable standards for GOV and driver use because, on the 4 occasions for whfoh he provided 
an official purpose explanation, his stated justifications did not sufficiently establish that the use 
of these locations under the circumstances was "essential to the successful completion ofa DoD 
function, activity, or operation." Similarly, we determined he violated the applicable standards 
on the 13 dates for which he offered no explanation or justification for using a GOV and driver. 

. Mr. Shedd's use of a GOV and military member driver for transportation to restaurants 
and similar venues on these occasions resulted in unnecessary GOV and driver use that could be 
characterized as a personal Jimousine service based solely on reasons of rank, position, prestige, 
or personal convenience, which the JER specifically prohibits. 

After carefu1ly considering Mr. Shedd's response, we stand by our conclusion. 
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B. 	Did Mr. Shedd improperly use non-contract air carriers? 

Standards 

Title 41, Code ofFederal Regulations, Subtitle F, "Federal Travel Regulation 
System," Chap.ter 301, "Temporary Duty (TDY) Travel Allowances," Subchapter B, 
"Allowable Travel Expenses," Subpa11 B, "Common Carrier Transportation," 

Section 301-10.106 states civilian DoD employees must always use a contract city-pair 
fare for scheduled air transportation unless one ofthe limited exceptions exists. 

Section 301-10.107 notes that when the Government contract city-pair carrier offers a 
lower cost capacity-controlled coach class contract fare in addition to the unrestricted coach class 
contract fares, the traveler should use the lower cost capacity-controlled fare when it is available 
and meets mission needs. Agencies may authorize use of a fare other than a contract city-pair 
fare when: 

• 	 Space on a scheduled contract flight is not available in time to accomplish the 
purpose of b·avel or use ofcontract service would increase the total cost of the trip; 

• 	 The contractor's flight schedule is inconsistent with explicit policies ofthe Federal 
depa11ment or agency with regard to scheduling travel during n01mal working hours; 
or 

• 	 A non-contract canier offers a lower fare to the general public that, ifused, will result 
in a lower total trip cost to the Government 

DoD 7000.14-R, "DoD Financial Management Regulation (FMR)," Vohune 9, 
July 2013 

Paragraph 0803 states the traveler is responsible for preparing the travel voucher. Even 
when someone else prepares the voucher, the traveler is responsible for the truth and accuracy of 
the information. When the traveler signs the form, the traveler attests that the statements are tme 
and complete and is aware of the liability for filing a faJse claim. 

The Joint Travel Regulations (JTR) Uniformed Service Members and DoD Civilian 
Personnel, October 1, 2014 

Chapter 2, "Official Travel" 

Part A, "General," paragraph 2000B, states, in part, that traveJers are to be good stewards 
of Government funds and exercise pmdence in tl'avel, and must consider scheduling travel as far 
in advance as possible to take advantage of the best offered fare/rate. 

Part B, "Travel Policy," paragraph 2115, states, in part, travel other than by a usually 
traveled route must be justified for any excess cost to be Government funded. Paragi·aph 2120, a· 
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traveJe.rmay not he provided GSA (General Services Administration) contract city-pair airfm·es 
or any other airfares intended for official Governme11t business for any po11ion of a route 
tmveJed for personal convenience. 12 · 

Chapter 3, "Tra:nsportation'r 

Part C, "Transportation 1\-fode," paragmph 3225, "Transportation Mode Selection" 

Subparagraph A; "Contract Air Service,'' city-pair airfare when offered should be used 
for official afr trnvel. 

Subparagraph B, "Non Contract Air Service," the use of non-contract U.S. ce11ificated air 
service, when city-pair service is available, may be used with advanced authority and specific 
justification. Justification should be on the travel Ol'der or other travel documents before actual 
travel begins. In extenuating/emergency circumsta,nces, traveler must obtain written approval 
from the appropriate Service designated official at cJ1e earliest possible time after completing the 
travel and attach it to the ttave1 voucher. 

The complainant alleged Mr. Shedd frequently used United Airlines, even if that air.line 
was not the contract carrier, in order to receive business class seating upgrades. The complainant 
state<9 once overheard Mr. Shedd's EA pressure the DIA to 
schedule Mr. Shedd on a non-contract carrier. 

(b) (6) lo) (7HC1The DIA stated ill was aware ofmultiple occasions when 
(b)(6 1. ib1(7)(C)Mr. Shedd used non-contract carriers during official travel. 


suggested Mr. Shedd did this to obtain frequent flyer seating upg1:ades on United Airlines but 

cited no specific evidence to support his assertion. 


(b\(6! (b117liC1We reqLtested t~e DIA ldentify the specific LTips on which. 
believed Mr. Shedd rlew on no.ll-contract carriers without apprnpriate justification. The 
lb) (7)(C) (hi 16) ntified. four trips that we dete11'nined required fort11el' investigation. 
rb1 !riJ \bH7)c() also identified nine trips ou which Mr. Shedd appropriately used a 
contract carrier. 

Mileage Plus is United Airlines' frequent flyer program. Mileage Plus members who 
travel the required number of qualifying miles or segments may earn pxemier status ofsilver, 
gold, platinum, or Premier 1K. Premier lK membets have complimentary access to Economy 
Plus seating for themselves and up to eight travel companions at check-in or booking based on 
Premier level. Mr. Shedd is a "Pl:emier I K'' frequent flyer with United Airlines, which is their 
highest status.and which prnvides the most preferred seat assignment benefits. 

12 The General Services Administration (GSA) annually awards competitive eontraefs to airlines, known as "city· 
pair," base<t upon the best overall value to the Goventrneot. These '1city·pair" fares m·e consid.erably lower than 
comparable commercial fares. 
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The Travel Approval Process 

Mr. Shedd's EA1'f81
" testified she coordinated Mr. Shedd's air h·avel. The EA 

stated she routinely scheduled travel using a contract carrier. She. explained when developing 
travel plans, she typically developed options and presented them to Mr. Shedd, to include the tise 
of non-contract caniers as appropriate for schedule requirements. The EA explained she created 
Mr. Shedd's travel authorizations in the Defense Travel System (DTS) including the remades 
justifying the use ofnon-contract can'iers. She stated Mi·. Shedd never pressured her to use a 
non-contract carrier; including United Airlines, and that mission requirements were critjca) in 
selecting flights.J3 · 

We re,viewed the fow- travel authorizations that the · 
improperly used non-contract caniers and identified a single approving official, • who 
worked in the DIAC. The approving official testified he had served as the approving official for 
Mr. Shedd's entire tenute atDIA. The official testified never voiced 

. .any ~once~s to, that r..11'. Sbe~d was acti11g improperly in hi~ .sdectionofaMines. The 
official testified . felt free to voice any concerns8 had regarding Mr. Shedd's travel. The 
official testified : disagreed With the assertion that Mr. Shedd :improperly used non-contract 
carriers and explained mission requirements drove the process. 

GSA records identify the specific contract cat.Tier for a given route ina given year. 
However, they do not identify the specifics of a past flight in terms oftlight dates and departure 
or arrival 6mes. We asked the DL'\ Travel Office supervisor ifit were possible to determine 
what specific :fljgbts were available to a user at the tin'.le of boolJng.. After consultation with the 
DIA Commercial Travel Office, she stated such iofonnatfon waR not available. A Defense 
Travel Management Office (DTMO) representative con-oborated the DIA Travel Ot1foe 
supervisor's statement. ' 

Four Trips 

Washington, D.C.. to Rom.e, Stuttgart. and Zurich- November 30-December 6, 2013 

ib)16) (L)(7)(CiDTS records indicate created a travel authorization on 
November 3, ~013, for Mr. Shedd to fly from Washington, D.C.• to Rome, Stuttgart, and Zurich. 
The DTS tl'avel aut.hmizatfon pre-audit review stated, "CP-C [co:tnmel'cial plane carrier] exceeds 
Lbreshold," indicating the air canier selected was not a contract carrier. The EA entered the 
following justification for the use ofa non-contract canier fol· the return flight: 

GSA contract carrieJ is not. being utilized and alternate non-GSA 
contract flights are beh1g used to ensure DD/DIA [Deputy 
Director] is able to attend t[sicl must attend meeting upon retum. 
from travel .. . DD/DIA is not willing to lisk missing the meeting 

13 The Detense Travel System (DTS) enables DoD travelers to create electronic travel documents, schedule air 
travel, ancl l'Oute the documents to appropriate officials for action. When a u·aveler selects a flight from DTS that .is 
not a GSA ciLy-p<\ir and a GSA city-pair .is available, DTS inserts a "pop-up" screen message that informs the 
traveler that the selection must be justified during pre-audit 
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because of delayed flights or missed connections. Operational 
Requirements prevent PD from being able to return to I.AD 
[DµIles] ea,rHer than Dec 6th necessitating use. ofdirect flight. 

GS,A records indicated the 'Contract can1er fur the departing flight was US Airways at a 
cost of$699 and the returning contract carrier was American Airlines at a cost of$502, for a 
tota1 cost of$1,201. Both the US Ai1way$ and American All'lines flights .involved connecting 
flights. 14 

The authorizing official approved the travel authorization on November 29, 20J3. 

Mr. Shedd's tickets, issued November 29, 2013, disclosed he flew on November 30, 
2013, from Washington, D.C., lo Rome on United Airlines, which was not tlw contract carrier. 
The ticket also disclosed he returnedfrom Zmich, Switzerland, to Washington, D.C., on 
December 6, 2013, on United Ait1.llles, aJso not the contract canier, at a rouud-trip price of 
$1,800. Both tickets indicated Mr. Shedd flew non-stop wit11 economy class seating. 

The EA testified Mr. Shedd required a non-contract depal'ting tlight because he had 
meeting requirements inRome immediately upon al1ival, which the use ofthe contract CaiTjer 
did not support. The EA explained the failure to justify tbe requirement for a depruiing 
non-contract carrier was an error on her pati. The itinerary for Mr. Shedd' s sc11edule on his day 
ofarrival in Rome, Sunday, December 1, 2014, disclosed he arrived at 7:45 a.m., had a working 
dinner that eve11ing at an unidentifie·d time and Jocati011 with two individuals the EA identified as 
members from the Italian intelligence setvices and the US defense attache, and tetumed to his 
hotel at 10:00 p.m. The itinerary also disclosed that 011 Thm·sday, December 5, 2013, the day 
prior to ills scheduled return to Washington; D.C., Mr. Shedd was engaged with official 
requirements until 10:35 p.m. The itinerary inclicated Mr. Shedd anived in Dulles on Friday, 
December 6, 2013, at 3:25 p.m. 

The EA stated the meeting requirement justifying the retuming non-contract flight was 
attendance on 'Friday, December 6, 2013, at a. Hohday Reception. IVIr. Sh.edd;s calendar 
indicated the reception lasted :from 6:00 p.m. to 8 :00 p.m. The. Office of Inspector General 
confinnecl the. Holiday Reception was an official event financed with Government funds. 

Mr. Shedd stated he did not know why there were.no comments in DTS to justify the use 
ofa n.on-co,ntrltCt cru1·ier for depruture. Mr. Shedd stated they bad to i.lse a non-contract carrier 
for the departing flight i11 order to have a working dinner with the director of the Italian 
equivalent of the... Mr. Shedd acknowledged that the use ofa non-contract cail·ier for the 
return fUght was to facilitate his attendance at the. Holiday Receplion. Mr. Shedd explained 
this was an official event that he was expected to attend . . Mr. Shedd stated the purpose of the 
function was to meet with foreign intelligence counterparts assigited to the Washington, D.C., 
area. Mr. Shedd added this was a relationship building function, and his pos.ition would h.av.e 
been weakened had he not attended. Mr. Shedd recaUed that no contract carrier arrived in time 

'~ GSA city-pair fligbts al'e .based upon tile bMe fare, e..xclusive of taxes ai1d otl1er fees, Accordingly, all fures 
diseussed in this rep01t reflect only t11e bac;e fare p1ice for consistency. 

FOR OFB1G1 A I Obi' yJ IS'J i 
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for him to prepare for m1d attend the function. Mr. Shedd signed the travel voucher on 
December 30, 2013, affirming the accuracy of the travel docwnents. 

Washington. D.C.. to Mexico City- April 13-15, 2014 

DTS records reflect a travel authorization created on April 9, 2014, for Mr. Shedd to 
travel from Washington, D.C., to Mexico City, 11exico, April 13-15, 2014. The authorization 
included the following justification for the use of a non-contract carrier for the round-trip flight: 

Mr. Shedd has work engagements on Sunday [April 13] that 
preclude aniving at the airpo1t for the GSA contract flight. Fmther 
the flight selected anives earlier into Mexico City, pennitting 
Mr. Shedd to have an evening meeting with the DATT [Defense 
Attache]. Additionally, Mr. Shedd has work engagements Tuesday 
aftemoon/evetring [ Ap1il 15] that require returning by 1600; the 
contract carrier does not return early enough. The DD [Deputy 
Director] is aware of the slight increased cost (approximately $90 
pp [per person] and has determined that the cost vs. benefit of 
attending the work functions is fully justified. 

GSA records indicated the round-trip contract cmTier was Delta Airlines, non-stop, at a 
cost of $600. Mr. Shedd's tickets, issued April 9, 2014, disclosed he flew direct round-trip 
flights on April 13 and 15, 2014, with economy class seating on United Airlines. The round-trip 
fare was $700. 

Mr. Shedd's calendar for Sunday, April 13, or Tuesday, April 15, 2014, did not indicate 
any engagements. Mr. Shedd's access records for LX or Pentagon did not indicate that he 
entered those facilities on either date. 

Mr. Shedd' s itinerary dated April 11 , 2014, reflected Jyfr. Shedd and three staff members 
were scheduled to ardve in Mexico City at 9:00 p.m.; be met by the U.S. Naval Defense Attache, 
a Navy captain, at 9:30 p.m.; and travel at 10:40 p.m. to their hotel. The itine1;my also reflected 
11r. Shedd's pruty an-ived in Washington, D.C., 011 Tuesday, April 15, 2014, at 3:35 p.m. but did 
not reflect any later events. Mr. Shedd's calendar for April 15 also did not include meetings or 
events after his retmn. 

The EA stated she did not recall what Mr. Shedd's work commitments were on Sunday 
that required a 1ater departure. The EA testified she believed the contract canier was not a direct 
flight and the non-contract carrier was a direct flight that maximized their efficiency. The EA 
testified they met with intelligence officials Sunday night until armmd 1 :00 a.m. 

Mr. Shedd stated he had no work requirement on Sunday prior to departure. Mr. Shedd 
testified the work tequirement was the necessity to meet Sunday night in Mexico City with his 
U.S. intelligence counterpru·ts to prepru·e for discussions with their Mexican counterpruts the next 
morning. Mr. Shedd signed the travel voucher affirming the accuracy of the travel statements on 
April 21, 2014. 
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Washington, D. C.. to Berlin-October 5-9. 2014 

DTS travel records reflect a travel authorization created on September 29, 2014, for 
Mr. Shedd to travel from Washington, D.C., to Berlin, Germany, October 5-9, 2014. The DTS 
pre-audit review stated, "CP [commercial plane] exceeds threshold," indicating the airfare 
selected exceeded DTS authorization. The EA entered the following remarks to justify the use of 
a non-contract canier: "Air fare fro in IAD [Dulles] is that ofa non-GSA contract canier­
therefore increasing the cost." 

GSA records indicate American Airlines was the contract canier for both the depa1ting 
and returning flights at a cost of $550 each way, or $1,100 total, with connecting flights. 
Mr. Shedd's ticket invoice, issued September 30, 2014, disclosed Mr. Shedd departed on a 
United Airlines ±1ight on October 5, 2014, at a cost of $1,291 and retumed on American Airlines 
at a cost of$550. The invoice indicates Mr. Shedd was assigned economy seating on both 
flights. 

The EA conceded the remarks she entered on the DTS travel authorization to justify the 
use ofa non-contract canier were insufficient. The EA recalled the contract carrier anived 
midday, and they needed to anive earlier because they had a full schedule ofmeetings 
immediately upon anival in Berlin. 

The itinerary for the trip disclosed Mr. Shedd and the EA arrived in Berlin at 7:55 a.m., 
on October 6, 2014, and began meetings at 9:30 a.m. ending at 4:30 p.m. October 7, 2014, was a 
travel day to return to Washington, D.C. The itinerary indicated no additional travel to another 
city. 

. Mr. Shedd testified the requirement was to get to Stuttgart, not Berlin, so he could give a 
presentation to an event hosted by the Commander of the U.S. Eitropean Command. Ls 
Mr. Shedd signed the travel voucher on October 20, 2014, affirming the accuracy ofthe travel 
documents. 

Washington, D. C.. to London-April 2-5, 2014 

DTS records reflect a travel authorization created on March 29, 2014, for Mr. Shedd to 
travel from Washington, D.C., to London, Eng]and, ApriJ 2-5, 2014. The DTS travel 
authorization pre-audit remarks stated "CP-C exceeds threshold" indicating the airline selected 
was not a contract cariier. The EA entered the following remarks to justify t!le use of a 
non-contract carrier: 

Must attend a Wednesday evening [April 2, 2014] work event and 
must return home Saturday morning [April 5, 2014] early enough 
for mid-day work commitments. All GSA Contract City Pair 
flights on American for 4&5 April were sold out when travel was 
booked. 

15 We dete1mined Mr. Shedd confused this TDY with that of a TDY to Stuttgart, Gennany. 
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The autbo1izing official approved the autho1·ization on March 31, 2014. 

GSA records indicated the contract carder for the return flight from London to Dul1es 

was also, Atherican Airlines at a cost of $3.95. 


Mr. Shedd's tickets, issued on April l , 2014, disclosed he departed on the contract 
caffjer, AtnedcanAirUnes, from Washington, D.C., to London, England, on Wednesday, April 2, 
2014. at 10:35 p.m., at a cost of$419, with economy class seating. The ticket also disclosed 
Mr, Shedd tetumed on a non-contract carrier, United Airlines, on Saturday, April 5, 2014, 
an-iving at Dulles at 11 :20 a.m:, at a cost of$1,213, with upgTaded economy plus seating. 

Mr. Shedd's calendar identified an event on Saturday, April 5, 2014, "Cherry Blossom 
Festival Open House/' at the then OTA Director's quarters~t Fort McNair, Washington, D.C. 
The.DIA JG confirmed with I.he DIA protocol office this was an official event :financed with 
Govemment funds. 

In a memora.ndwn for reco,rd dated April 2) '2014, subject: '4Usage ofa Non-GSA 
Contract City CalTier,'' documenled his recollection of the 
events surrounding Mr. Shedd's retum ilight on a 11011-contracfcarrier. In the memorandum; he 

(b)(6) (b)'7)(C)wrote no contt·act canier was available at the time the EA booked flights. 
continued that because of the cost difference-$611 on tbe contract ca11ier compared to $1,215 
011 the non·contract catrier--for a :flight that arrived only 90~mjnutes later,B continued to 
search for an opening on a contract flight. wrote that on Ttwsday~ April 2~ 2014 
(Mr. Shedd's departure day), a seat became available on the contract carrier for the return flight 
- informed the EAfl had rescheduled Mr. Shedd on the contract canier. 1111 
~ed tbe EA declined that fli.ght stating that Mc. Shedd had afready approved the 
fligl1t, and the original United Airlines night should be reinstated. continued that 
later that aftemoot1> .~1r. Manzelmann requested that Mr. Shedd's original retum flight on United 
Airlines be reinstated. 

The EA testified the Cherry Blossom Festival Open House was an important 
i:epresentational event that required Mr. Shedd' s attendance. The EA"explained when she 
originally scheduled the flights, no contract carrier seats were ava1lable so she booked the return 
flight on a non-contract ca1Tier. She continued tfait seat5 on th.e contract canier became available 
at the last minute. The EA stated then changed tbe rettu·n tlight 
to a contract carrier. 111e EA testified she did 11ot recall discussing the event wjth 
Mr. lvlaazelmann. 

In a: series of emails. belween the EA and dated April 1, 20 J4~ 
(b)(B), {b)(nC) Wonned the EAll found seats on a contract carxier that would 
arrive only 90 minutes later on Saturday. April 5~ 2014. The EA responded that fliglit would not 
be suitable, eh.-plaining that Mr. Shedd had scheduled a work obligation basecl on the 11 :20 a.m. 
arrival time that could not be moved. wrnteII could not authorize 
the Commercial Travel Office to issue the ticket on United Airlines due to th.e additional c-0st of 
$60'0 per ticket over the contract carrier. stated this would be difficult to explain 
in the event the travel office was audited. 
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"Jf the DD [Mr. Shedd] needs to be back at ONT office [Director ofNational Intelligence~ LX] 

Subsequently, at 1: 19 p.m. on April 1, 2014, the EA forvvmded ibi<61 ibli711Ci 

- emaiJ to Mr. Manzelmaim. The EA infonned ry.tr. ManzeJmann of the last nunute ­
change in the return flight schedule. The EA stated Mr. Shedd made scheduling decisions based 
on lhe original flight. The EA stated Mr. Shedd was aware of the increased costs and wanted to 
remain on the original United AU-lines flight to meet his work obligations ou Saturday, April 5. 
2014. 

Mr. Manzelmann explained to us that he spoke telephonfoally with the EA after receiving 
her Apdl 1, 2014, email, and then fo1warded the EA's em.ail to 
April I , 2014, at .4:13 p.m. Mr. ManzeJmann wrote in the email to • 

can we do the eal'lier flight." 

lb)i6), lb)(7)(C)On April 1, 2014, Mr. Manzelmanninformed the EA he bad reql.l-ested 
- book the earlier flight based on Mr. Shedd' s meeting at LX. 

fo a seties ofemails between Mr. Manzelmann and Mr. Shedd~ and courtesy copying the 
EA, dated April 5 and 6, 2014, Mr. Manzelmatm asked Mr. Shedd ifhe made the earliel' United 
Airlines flight Mr. Shedd replied it worked out perfectly. and they i-eturned in time to attend a 
CIA·sponsored lunch by 12:30p.m .16 

Mr. Shedd testified tl1e Cherry Blossom Festival Open House was an official function 
paid for with. Government funds. He explained the event was an 'impo1tant networking and 
collaboration function that required his attendance. Mr. Shedd stated he did not recall any issue 
with the return J;ljght, jncluding any involvement by Mx. Manzelmann. Mr. Shedd signed the 
travel voucher on April I 8, 2014, affirming the accuracy of the travel documents. 

Concluding Remarks 

. Mr. Shedd stated he had :frequent flyer membership with three or four airlines, including 
American Airlines and Delta. Mr. Shedd explained be had not used his frequent flyer 
membersltips in a long time and remarked that he had even lost mi'1es because he had not used 
them. Mt. Shedd testified he had never in~tructed anyone to schedule him exclusively on United 
Airlines. Mr. Shedd explained that alt ofhis travel arrangements are driven by mission 
requirements in his. role as the Deputy 'Director or Acting Director ofDIA. 
Discussio11 

\Ve conclude Mr. Shedd impropel'ly used non-contmct air caniers on five flights. We 
discuss ead1 of the flights in the subsections below. We also found the EA ~tated she never fe]t 
pressured to schedule Mr. Shedd on any particular aitline. The Authorizing Official offered 
similar testimony. The EA stated mission requirements drove airline selection with :fi.rst priority 
toward the use ofcontract carriers. 'We further found that Mr. Shedd signed the tTavel vouchers 
for each ofthe five flights affimring the accuracy of the information submitted 011 the travel 
authorizations, 

16 We found no evidence ofanynexus between thellJluucheon and the Cherry Blossom festival Open House. 
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Title 41 CFR Section 301-10.106 requires DoD employees to use contract carriers; 
Section 301-10 .107 allows for exceptions, including ifspace on a scheduled contract flight is not 
available in time to accomplish the purpose of the travel. The JTR states any exception must be 
certified by the traveler or certifying official on the travel order or authorization. DoD 7000.14­
R states the traveler is responsible for the accuracy of information on a travel voucher even if the 
traveler did not prepare the voucher. 

Washington. D.C., to Rorne, Stuttgart; and Zurich-Nowmber 30-December 6; 2013 

We found that on the first flight from Washington, D.C., to Italy and later to Switzerland, 
Mr. Shedd selected a non-contract can-ier but provided no justification on the travel 
authorization. On the return flight from that same trip, Mr:Shedd selected a non-contract carrier 
because he wanted a direct flight, not offered by the contract carrier, due to his concern for 
potential missed connections or delays. We determined Mr. Shedd improperly used non-contract 
carriers for both the departing and returning flights from Washington, D.C., and Switzerland at 
an excess cost to the Government of$599. The depa1ting flight travel authorization contained no 
justification for the use ofa non-contract cai'lier. The justification provided for the non-contract 
carrier for the returning flight stated Mr. Shedd preferred a direct :flight so as not to risk "delayed 
flights" or "missed c01mections." Title 41 CFR 301-10.107 does not allow exceptions bas~d 
upon these preferences. 

Washington, D.C., to Mexico Citv-=April 13-1~. 2014 

We found that on the third and foulih flights from Washington, D.C., to Mexico City and 
return, Mr. Shedd flew round trip on non-contract carriers. We found he used the justification 
that meetings both prior to depmture and inunediately upon return necessitated the use of 
non-contract carriers. However, we found no evidence of such meetings. Mr. Shedd testified the 
requirement was to meet upon arrival in Mexico City and offered no explanation as to why the 
contract catTier could not have been used. We determined Mr. Shedd improperly used non­
contract carriers for both the departing and returning flights at an excess cost to.the Goverrunent 
of $100. The departing travel authorization stated Mr. Shedd had work requirements on Sunday 
prior to departure and on Tuesday upon return that justified the use ofa non-contract carrier. We 
fom1d no evidence ofMr. Shedd' s work requirements that justified the use ofnon-contract 
carriers. 

Washington. D.C .. to_Berlin-October 5-9, 2014 

We found that on the fifth tlight, from Washington, D.C., to Berlin, Mr. Shedd used a 
non-contract carrier annotating a justification in DTS that a non-contract canier was more 
expensive. We found Mr. Shedd used a contract carrier for his retum from Berlin. We 
detennined Mr. Shedd improperly used a non-contract carrier for his tlight to Berlin at an excess 
cost to the Government of$741. Title 41 CFR Section 301-10.106 requires DoD employees to 
use contract carriers; Section 301·10.107 allows for exceptions. The justification that the 
non-contract carrier cost more was not an authorized exception. 
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Washington, D.C .. to London-April 2~5. 2014 

We further found that Mr. Shedd used a contract carrier from Washington, D.C., to 
London but used a non-contract canier on return. We found Mr. Shedd used the initial 
justification that no contract carriers were available. We found that a contract carrier then 
became available but its arrival time conflicted with an official function Mr. Shedd planned to . 
attend immediately upon return. We determined Mr. Shedd properly used anon-contract canier 
for the retum flight. Title 41 CFR Section 301-l 0.106 requires DoD employees to use contract 
cai11ers; Section 301-10.107 allows for exceptions, including if space on a scheduled contract 
flight is not available in time to accomplish the purpose ofthe travel. The travel authorization 
correctly stated tbat return flights were sold out, which was an authorized exception. When a 
return contract flight became available, the justification was provided that the return flight 
conflicted with Mr. Shedd's attendance at an official function. We dete1mined this justification 
met the criteria as an authorized exception. 

Response to Tentative Conclusion 

Following our established practice, by letter dated June 1, 2015, we provided Mr. Shedd 
the opp01tunity to comment on the preliminary results of our investigation. In his response, 
da,ted June 15, 2015, .tvfr. Shedd asserted that mission requirements dictated.the basis for any 
decision to forego contract caniers. Mr. Shedd wrote that om repo1t of investigation ''made 
determinations based on administrative/clerical oversights, and not on what was operationally 
relevant, and in reality, what actually occurred." Mr. Shedd offered the example that our report 
inferred that he improperly used a non-contract carrier flying from London to Washington, D.C., 
on April 5, 2014, in order to attend an official event- the Cherry Blossom Festival, in an · 
unofficial capacity. We note our report ofinvestigation in fact dete1mined that Mr. Shedd's 
justification for the use ofa non-contract carrier in this instance met the criteria as an authorized 
exception. lv1r. Shedd also wrote that the use of contract carriers on the five flights would have 
caused him to remain in TDY status for an extended duration and adversely impacted his 
responsibilities. Mr. Shedd continued that on each of the five flight'> he attempted to "minimize 
his TDY time in ordel' to maximize his time>) for his duties in Washington, D.C. Mr. Shedd 
offered no evidence disputing the facts outlined in our report ofinvestigation concerning his use 
ofnon-contract air cru.Tiers. 

Mr. Shedd wrote that he categorically rejected any conclusion ofwrong-doing concerning 
his use of a GOV and non-contract air carriers. Mr. Shedd continued that our report of 
investigation was based on faulty assumptions-without identifying wl~-rt assumptions he was 
referring to- and insufficient knowledge concerning his duties. \Ve note that in our interview 
with Mr. Shedd and through his response to our'tentative conclusions, we offered him multiple 
opportunities to justifyhis actions in the context ofhis official duty requiiements. 

After carefully considering Mr. Shedd's response, we stand by our conclusion. 
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C. Did Mr. Manzelmanu misuse his position and Government prope1ty? 

Standards 

The standards used in AUeg~tion 1l also apply to this allegation. 

DoD 5500.07-R, "Joint Ethics Regulation (JER)," August 23, 1993, including 
changes 1-7(November17, 2011) 

The JER provides a single source of standards ofethical conduct and ethics guidance for. 
DoD employees. Chapter 2 oftheJER, ''Standards ofEthical Conduct,'' incorporates Title 5, 
CFR, Part 2635, "'Standards ofEthical Conduct for Employees ofthe Executi.ve Brancl1/1 in its 
entirety. 

Subpart G; ''Misuse of Position/' Section 2635.704, "Use of Government Property," 
states that an employee has a duty to protect and conserve Govemment property and shall not use 
such property) or allow its use) for other than authorized purposes. 

Section 2635.704(b)(2) states authorized purposes are those purposes for which 
Govenunent property is made available to members of tbe public or those purposes authorized in 
accordance with law or regulation. 

The facts presented above regarding Mr. Shedd's TOY from Washington, O.C." to 
London) Apdl 2-5, 2014~ also apply to this allegation. 

In a statement to the DIA IGt dated October 6~2014, <b)(6l 1b)(7)(C) 

stated. refused to schedule Mr. Sbedd on the April 5, 201.4, non-contract retwn flight from 
London to Washington, D.C., because a contract carrier was available. (b)(6) (b)(7)1C) 

- stated that Mr. Manzelmann then requested thatll 8;1)prove tlie travel on the 
non-contract filght. wmte ihatR informed Mr. Manzelmanng was "ptllting 
llseJfon the Hne" for approving travel that was not with a contract carrier, andg would 
document the approval. 

The DIA supervisory specialist who oversaw the DIA Travel Office co1Toborated. 
October6, 2014, statement. The supervisor explained less expensive 

seating on the retum tlight for the contract carrier became available on April 1 ~ 2014, the day 
prior to Mr. Shedd's scheduled travel. IIadded Mr. Shedd's EA requested Mr. Manzelmann 
intervene to keep Mr. Shedd on the original return flight. The supervisor added they complied 
with MT. Manzelmann's request b\1t documente.d the issue in the Aprill, 2014, memorandum for 
record by ib)1fi) (b)l 71(Ci 

Mr. Manze1mann. stated his duties included oversight of theDIA Transportation Office. 
Mr. Manzelmann recalled that Mr. Shedd had already depmted on TDY to London when he 
received a telephone call from the EA, Mr. Manzelmann stated the EA informed him that the 
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trnvel office. had changed Mr. Shedd's return flight on Saturday from a United Airlines flight to 
an American Aixlines fligbi that returned later. Mr. Manzelmaun explained the EA informed hhn 
that the later arrival time would cause Mr. Shedd to miss already scheduled mMday meetings at 
LX with $enfor inJeUigence officials. Mr. Manzelmann explained that Mr. Shedd, who was then 
the Deputy Director, was thought to be selected as the Actiog Director, and. assumed the 
Satutday meetings might concern that appointment. 

Mr. Manzelmann testified that he telephon.ed to discuss the 
matter. Mr. Manzelmann continued that stated since the 1·eturn date 
was on Saturday-a non-duty day- there was no concern about a later arrival time. 
Mr. Manzelmann explained he informed that Mt. Shedd had work-
related requirements at LX, and they needed to' get him back as origina!Jy planned. 
Mr. Manzelmaru1 stated that getti.J.1g Mr. Shedd to his duty appointment was the overriding ±actor 
in his decision. 

Discussion 

We conclude Mr.11anzelmann did not misase his position or Governn:iertt property. We 
found lvfr. Shedd was scheduled to depart on Wednesday, April 2, 20141 from Washington, D.C., 
to Lond01~ England, ·using a contract carrie..r and to return at 11 :20 a.ro., Saturday, April S, 2014, 
on a non-contract earlier due to the non-availability ofa contract flight. We found that on 
April 1, 2014, identified available seating on a. contract carrier 
returning around 1:00 p.rn., Saturday, April 5, 2014> which!tl then offered the EA. We forther 
found the EA infom1ed the later a1Tival lime conflicted with 
Mr. She.dd's scheduled work requirements and ;req1•ested reinstatement of the original non­
contract cani.er. declined to reinstate the non-contract cai11er, 
prompting the EA lo request Mr. Manzelmann intervene. 

We found that Ml'. Manzelmann believed Mr. Shedd's meetings with ODNI leadersl1ip 
would be jeopardized \vi.th the later contract-carrier arrival. His email to (b)!6). (U)(l)(CI 

- affinned this fielie( Mr. Manzelmann also testified he was aware of the increased cost 
but reasoned the detennining factor was the requiremenl to get Mr. Shedd to his scheduled 

(1,)(61 1b)(7)(CImeetings. Finally, we fmmd that Mr. Manzelmarm directed to 
t·einst.ate Mr. Shedd on the original non-contract can.ier flight. 

Title 41 CPR Section 301 -10.106 requires DoD employees to use contract ca:niers; 
S.ection 301-10.107 allows for exceptions, including 1fspace on a scheduled contract flight is not 
available in time to accomplish the purpose of the travel. The JER states :that employees should 
protect and conserve Govemmenl µroperty, which includes funding, and not allow its nse for 
other than .authorized purposes. 

We dete1mined that Mr. Manzelmann, acting on information that a later arrival time 
would conflict with Mr. Shedd's scheduled meetings~ acted reasonably i_n directing the 
restoration of the non-contract carrier, and did· not waste Government resources. 
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D. Did Mr. Wise improperly use non-contract air caniers? 

Standards 

The standards used in Allegation B also apply to this allegation. 

In a statement to the DIA IO.investigator dated October 6, 2014, (b)(6l 1b)i7l(C) 

- stated that Mr. Wise_, who asslUTied duties as the Deputy Director in August 2014, was 
improperly using non-contrnct air carriers. 

\Ve asked to identify the specific occasions on which . 
believed Mr. Wise had improperly used non-contract carrie rs. 
identified only one occasion 011t of seven trips taken by Mr. Wis~a TDY trip from 
Washington, D.C., to Omaha, Nebraska, October 15-16, 2014. 

Washington, D.C.. to Omaha, Nebra8kx1-0ctober 15-16. 2014 

DTS records disclosed Mr. Wise traveled fr0111 Washington, D.C., to Omaha, Nebraska; 
on October 15, 2014, and returned from Omaha lo Washington, D.C., on October 16, 2014. The 
DTS pre-audit for both the departing and return flight stated, '~Air Fat:e selected is not a GSA 
City Pair." The remarks justifying the selection of a non-contract carrier for both flights stated, 
"Only flight that met requirements of the conference agenda.'' 

GSA records disclosed that Delta Ah-lines was the contract canier at a rnund~tdp fare of 
$496 from Dulles lntemational Ai11)ort or US Afrways from Ronald Reagan National Airport at a 
round-trip fare of$618. 

DTS records and the conference agenda disclosed that Jvk Wise, who resides io I''!!' 
- 'departed from Dulles [nte1.11ational Airport at 8:06 a.m. on Wednesday, October 15, 
2014, on United Airlines, and arrived at the Omaha airport that same day at. 11 :23 a.m, The 
conference agenda indicated the event was held at Offutt Air Force Base, Nebraska. The agenda 
further disclosed that Mr. Wise opened the conference with a Town Hall session at l :00 p.m., 
and the conference continued until 7:00 p.m. that evening. 17 The agenda indicated the 
conference continued the next day, Tliursday, from 7:30 a.m. until 4:15 p.m. The records also 
disclosed that Mr. Wise departed the Omaha Airport on United Airlines at 6:50 p.m. on 
Thursday, October 16, 2014J and arrived at 12:00 a.m. at Dulles International Airpo1t and 
returned to hisrnsidence in HJ.II'" The United Airlines l'ound~trip fare was $678. 

Mr. Wise's EA stated her practice in coordinating air travel was to sele-Ot a contract 
catrier. The· EA testified she selected a non-contract canier for this paiticular trip because the 
contract flights did not allow Mr. Wise to anive in time to meet the conierence agenda. Ihe EA 
stated she then scheduled Mr. Wise on anon-contract return carrier because the DTS program 

•
1 MapQuest rndicated tl1at Offutt Air Force Base was J8 miles aod 26 millutes from the airport. 
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would not allow ber to schedule a contract canier, although she did not recall the specifics of the 
transaction. l11e EA explained she subsequently :informed Mr. Wise she had scheduled his 
flights· and did not mention that she had not selected a contract caiTier-011ly stating the flights 
metthe requirements of the conference agenda. 

We asked a D1MO staff member ifDelta Airlines offered any flights returning from 
Omaha to Dulles on October 17, 2014. The representatjve wrote that it was not possible to 
determine specific histmica.l flight schedules. The representative stated that the current De.lta. 
schedule iudicated the Last flight from Omaha to Dulles departed at.5:25 p.m. 

· Mr. Wise stated he did not believe the conference agenda had anytbing to do with the 
selection of an air carrier and added he had not seen that justification. Mr. Wise recalled his EA 
asked ifhe desired to return to Dulles, and he replied he did, as Dulles was 011li'1 miles from hls 
residence. Mr. Wise explained he would be returning late in the evening on a weeknight and 
needed to be ftt wo.rk early the next morning. Mr. Wise signed the travel voucher on October 28~ 
2014, af'finn.ing tbe accuracy of the travel documents. 

Discussion 

We co(1cl ude I\1r. Wise ptopedy used a non-contract air carrier for the trip to and from 
Omaha. We found the EA aimotated. on the travel mJthorization that a non-contract canier was 
required for both flights because that was the only carrier that met the requirements of the 
conference agenda. The EA's testimony supported tl1e rationale for the justifications annotated 
on the travel outhorizati:on. The current carrier schedules indicate the last contract carrier flight 
departs Omaha at 5:25 p.m. We further found that Mr. Wise signed the travel authorization 
affirming the accuracy of the document. 

Title 41 CFR Section 30l-10.106tequires DoD employees to use contract caniers; 
Section 301-10.107 allows for exceptions. including if space on a scheduled contract fljght is not 
available in time to accomplish the puq:iose ofthe travel. 

We determili_ed the justifications used for the selection ofa non-contract canier fot both 
flights met the exceptions allowed by 41CFR301-10.l 07. We also determined that it was rnore 
likely than not that a non-contract carrier was required for the retmn :flighl The conference 
adjourned at 4:15 p.m., the drive to the airport was 30 minutes, and the last contract can:ier 
probably departed arotlnd 5 :25 p.m. 

E. pj,d Mr. Wise fail to use his GTCC while on official travel? 

Staiidar.4$. 

DoO 7000.14-R, '~DoD Financial Management Regulation (FMR)," Volume 9, July 
2013 

Paragraph 0803 states the traveler ls responsible for preparing tl1e travel voucher. Even 
when someone else prepares the voucher, the traveler is responsible for the truth and accuracy of 
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the informaticn. When the tra.veJer signs the form, the traveler attests that lhe statemetJts are true 
and complete and is .aware of the liability for fiJing a false claim. 

Paragraph 030101 states DoD policy that the Government Travel Charge Card (GTCC) 
will be used by all DoD personneJ to pay foT all costs related to official Govemment travel. 
Official Govemme11tt1'avel is defined as travel m1der competent orders while performing duties 
pe1taining to official Govemment assignments such as TDY. 

Paragraph 030102 states thal lhe GTCC policies apply to all DoD personnel (civilian and 
military). 

Paragraph 030103 provides that commanders and supervisors at all levels shall ensure 
comp1lance with the regulation. 

Paragraph 030501 states that unless otherwise exempt, al1 PoD personnel are required to 
l.J.SC the GTCC for aU authorized expenses relating to travel. 

The Joint Ta·avel Regulations (JTR), Uniformed Service Members .and DoD Cjvilian 
Employees, October 1, 2014 

Chapter2, "Official Travel," Part G: " Gov't Travel Charge Card (GTCC) Use" 

Section 2500, "DoD Policy," states it .is DoD general policy that the GTCC be used by al1 
personnel to pay for all costs incidental to official business travel, nnless otherwise specified. 

Section 2515, '~GTCC Use and Restrictions/' states that charging personal travel 
expenses to a GTCC is misuse. A DoD traveler who misuses a GTCC is subject to 
administrative and/or disciplinary action. 

indicated that on TDY trips, Mr. Wise failed to use his 
GTCC for travel expenses. · stated!I had informed Mr. Wise's executive assistants 
that the use ofthe G'TCC was mandatory and noticed that recently Mr. Wise had begun to use it. 

Travel records indicated that Mr. Wise was isst1ed a GTCC on July 14, 2014, shortly after 
assuming duties at DIA Our review ofMr. Wise's travel receipts identified three TDY trips­
August lQ~ll, August 29-September 6, and October 15-16, 2014, in which MJ. \Vise used his 
personal credit card for charges totaling $3,106.39. The charges were for expenses such as 
hotels, airpo11 parking, and a rental cat. 

Ml'. Wise testified he accepted full responsibility for not using his GTCC. He explained 
he was not requited to use a GTCC in his previous capacity with the CJ A, and he did not obtain a 
GTCC until he arrived at DlA. Mr. Wise stated he mistakenly believed he was required to use 
the GTCC for airfare but not for other travel ex.penses. 
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Discussion 

We conclude Mr. Wise failed to use his GTCC while on official travel. We found that 
Mr. Wise was issued a GTCC on July 14, 2014. We found that on at least three official travel 
trips from August through October 2014, Mr. Wise used his personal credit card for $3,196 of 
official travel expenses for hotels, airpo1t parking, and a rental car. We found that Mr. Wise 

· acknowledged this enor and accepted full responsibility for the matter. 

DoD 7000.14-R and the JTR state it is DoD policy that employees use the GTCC for all 
ex-penses while perfo1ming official travel. 

We detennined that Mr. Wise failed to use his GTCC for expenses while on official 

travel. 


Response to Tentative Conclusion . 

Following our established practice, by letter dated June 1, 2015, we provided Mr. Wise 

the opportunity to comment on the preliminary results ofour investigation. In his response, 

dated June 1, 2015, Mr. Wise wrote he had no reason to comment on our report. Accordingly, 

we stand by our conclusion. 


V. CONCLUSIONS 

A. We conclude :tvlr. Shedd misus~d a GOV and Government personnel for other than 

official purposes. 


B. We conclude .Mr. Shedd improperly used non-contract air carriers. 

C. We conclude Mr. Manzelmann did not misuse his position or Goverrunent property. 

D. We conclude Mr. Wise properly used non-contract air catT.iers. 

E. We conclude Mr. Wise failed to use his GTCC while on official travel. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

A. The Under Secretary of Defense for Intelligence consider appropriate action 

regarding Mr. Shedd and Mr. \Vise. 


B. We make no recommendation regarding Mr. Manzehnann. 



Appendix A-1 
Appendix A. Official GOV Trips 

Our review, which sampled 43 days during a 1,295-day period, compared Mr. Shedd's official 
calendar and building access records from January 4, 2011, through July 21, 2014, reflected 
Mr. Shedd conducted official business en route to, or returning from, the DIAC on 40 of the 83 
trips. 

Appendix A. 40 "Official" Tl'ips 

• Appendix A-1: 17 trips from Lxi en route to DIA:C 

• Appendix A-2: ~1 trips from DIAC to LX2 

• Appendix A-3: 2 trips from DIAC returning to the Pentagon 

Appendix A-1: 17 "Official" Trips fi·om IX2 en route to DIAC: Accessed LX2 Prior to 


Departure 


Item# 

2 

4 

6 

Date 

March 22, 201 1 

November 13, 2012 

December 3, 2012 

Calendar Reflects 

0700 depart LX2 w/driver for DJAC; 
(Page 30) 

0700 depart LX2 w/driver for DIAC; 
(Page ll6) 

0700 depart LX2 w/ driver for DIAC; 
(Page 119) 

Access Records Reflect 

&ter 0634, exit 0710 
(36 minutes); (Page 16) 

Entel' LX2 0628, exit 0701 
(33 minutes); (Page 49) · 

Enter 0627, exit 0712 
(45 minutes); (Page 49) 
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Appendix A-1 
Appendix A. Official GOV Trips 

Item# Date Calendar Reflects Access Records Reflect 

8 

10 

12 

December 17, 2012 

August 5, 2013 

March 4, 2014 

Depart LX2 w/driver for DIAC; 
(Page 121) 

0700 depart LX2 w/driver for DIAC; 
(Page 154) 

0700 depatt LX2 w/driver for DJAC; 
(Page 184) 

Enter 0627, exit 0638 
(11minutes)(Page51) 

Enter 0626, exit 0704 
(38 minutes); 
(Page 64) 

Enter 0636, exit 0700 
(24 minutes); (Page 73) 
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Appendix A-2 
Appendix A. Official GOV Trips 

4J2pendix A-2: 21 "Official" Trips ti"om DIAC returning to LX: AccessedLXupon return 
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Item # Date Ca lendar Reflects Access Records Renect 

1700 depart w/ddver for LX2; 
1800 d9partLX2 w/<lriver (or Chevy Cha,~e

12 .fan1,1ary 1 1, 2013 EnleJ 1759, exit 1803 (Page 52) IPQ11 for ~io.ner wlth Italian Defense 
Attach€; 2100 return lo 1.X2 (l'age 124) 

Appendix A-2 
/\ppendix A. Official GOV Trip~ 
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·Appendix A-3 
Appendix A. Official GOV Trips 

Appendix A-3: 2 "O(fidal" trips from DIAC returning to the Pentagon: Accessed Pentagon Up_on Return 

2 May29,2013 
1500 depa1i DIAC w/dr:iver for 1530 meeting 
at Pentagon. (Page 144) 

Enter 1520, exit 1642 (Page 11) 
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Appendix B- l 
Appendix B. Unofficial Trips 

Our review sampled 43 days during a 1,295 day period and compared Mr. Shedd's official 
calendar and building access· records from January 4, 2011, through July 21, 2014, reflected 
Mr. Shedd did not conduct any official business en route to, or returning from, the DIAC on 43 
ofthe 83 trips. 

Appendix B: 43 "Unofficial" Ti·ips 

• Appendix B-1: 17 trips from LX2 en route to DIAC 
• Appendix B-2: 13 trips from DIAC returning to LX2 
• .AppendL'<- B-3 : 8 trips from the Pentagon en route to DIAC 

• Appendix B-4: 5 trips from DIAC returning to the Pentagon 

Appendt:"B-1: 17 "Unofficial" Trips kom LX2 en roule to DJAC: Did Not Access LX2 Prior to 

Departw·e 


10 April 23, 2013 
Depa1t LX2 w/driver for DIAC; 
(Page 139) No morning entry (Page 58) 

Pagel 



Appendix B-1 
Appendix B. Unofficial Trips 

0645 depart LX2 w/driver for breakfast 
February 26, 2014 meeting at Willard Hotel; No moming entty (Page 73) 12 

0830 depart w/driver for DIAC; (Page 183) 

14 .April24, 2014 Depatt LX2 w/driver for DJAC; (Page 191) No record ofentry. (Page 75) 
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Appendlx B-2. 
Appendix B. Unofficial Trips 

Appendix. B-2: 13 "Vnoffieial'' 11•ips.from DlAC retuming to L.X2: Did not Access LX2 Upon Rerurn 
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Appendix B-3 
Appendix B. Unofficial Trips 

Appendix B-3: 8 "Unoffecial" Trips ·from the Pentagon en route to DL1: No Prior Access the Pentagon 

2 January 13, 2011 

0645 p/u at un1dentified location en route 
to DrAC; 1600 depart w/driver for 
Pentagon; .no reflection of meetings at 
Pentagon (Page 20) 

No record of entry Pentagon or 
LX. (Page 4, 2) 

Depart Pentagon w/driver for DIAC; 
2030 depart w/driver for Pentagon;

May 31, 2011 No record of entry. (Page 4) 
no indication of any meetings at Pentagon 
(Page 40) 

0700 depait Pentagon parking w/driver for 
September 17, 2013 No record of entry. (Page 11) 

DIAC (Page 160) 
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Appendix B-4 
Appendix B. Unofficial" Trips 

Appendix B-4: 5 "Unotflcial" Trips from DJAC return;ng to the Pentagon: No Access .the Pentagon 
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Appendix C' 
Appendi_x C, Unofficial Trips to and from Other.: Venues 

Appendix C: "Unofficial" Trips to and from Other Venues 

Appendix. c~ 17 Dates of40 '"Unofflcfal '' trYJ.s to and frorn restaurants cmd similar venues 

4 November 14, 2012 

1745 depart w/driver for dinner at 1830 with 
i.midentified person; 

I i ooo depart w/driver for LX2 
(P1tge 116) 

Enter LX2 0629, 
exit 0706; 
no other ·entry for tbe 
day. {'Page 49) 

No response. Two trl}Js. 
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AppendixC 
Appendix C. Unofficial Trips to and from Othet· Venues 

Item # Dat1i Calen d11r R eflects 
Access Records 

Reflect 
Mr. Sbedd's Summarized Response as Appropriate// 

10 Note 

6 December 17,2012 

1200 depart w/driver for lunch w/an 
individual at an Italian restaurant 
afternoon events at DIAC; 
1700 depanw/driver for LX2; 
l 730 departLX2 widriver for "City House"; 
2030 depart wfclriver for LX2 fV"*1 

(Page 121) 

Enter 0627, exit 0638; 
Enter 2UO, exit2223. 
(Page 51) 

No response. Five trips: to and from lunch (2); ro LX2 to pick 
up ­ (1); to and from "City House" (2). 

10 August5,2013 

Bnter 0636, exit 0707; 
no funher data1130 depart w/drivet for Teds lunch

April lO, 2013 (Page 57)(Page 137) 

Disc1.1&sions during the day at locations noted on the calendar 
for official purposes - Science &Technology developments 
(Ted's Bulletin Restaunml)fffwo tr\ps 

Page 2 



Access Records Mr. Shedd's Summarized Response as Appropriate// 
Item# Date Calendar Reflects Reflect IO Note 

No record of entry. 
12 ember 19, 2013Nov 1800 depart w/driver for dinner (Page 169) No response. Two trips. 

(Pa,ge 69) 

Enter 0635, exit 0706; 
1715 depart w/driver for dinn.er at Tony and Enter 2010, exit 2042. 

16 Jlllle 9, 2014 Joes, 1815; 2000 depart with driver for LX2 No response. Two trips. (Page 77) (Page 198) · 

AppendixC 
Appendix C. Unofficial Trips to and from Other Venues 

F8R 8FFJ@f!lm ~819 81 fhY 
Page3 


	Structure Bookmarks
	DoD 7000.14-R, "DoD Financial Management Regulation (FMR)," Volume 9, July 




